# CITY OF TORONTO - and PROPONENT CONTRIBUTION AGREEMENT 175 Cummer Avenue, Toronto

#### TABLE OF CONTENTS

ARTICLE 1 INTERPRETATION	2
ARTICLE 2 GENERAL	6
ARTICLE 3 THE PROJECT	6
ARTICLE 4 ASSISTANCE	6
ARTICLE 5 PAYMENT OF HOUSING BENEFITS	8
ARTICLE 6 REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES	. 10
ARTICLE 7 GENERAL OBLIGATIONS OF THE PROPONENT	. 10
ARTICLE 8 TENANT SELECTION, OCCUPANCY, AND MONTHLY OCCUPANCY COST	
ARTICLE 9 FINANCIAL RECORDS, RIGHT TO AUDIT AND RIGHT TO ACCESS	
ARTICLE 10 INDEMNITY	. 16
ARTICLE 11 INSURANCE	. 17
ARTICLE 12 TRANSFERS AND ASSIGNMENTS	. 17
ARTICLE 13 DEFAULT AND REMEDIES	. 17
ARTICLE 14 RECEIVERSHIP	. 19
ARTICLE 15 CONFIDENTIALITY AND PERSONAL INFORMATION	. 20
ARTICLE 16 PUBLIC ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF FUNDS	. 21
ARTICLE 17 DISPUTE RESOLUTION	. 21
ARTICLE 18 NOTICES	. 22
ARTICLE 19 CONTRACTUAL STATUS OF THE PARTIES	. 23
ARTICLE 20 UNCONTROLLABLE CIRCUMSTANCES	. 23
ARTICLE 21 GENERAL PROVISIONS	. 23

THIS AGREEMENT is made effective as of XXXXXX, 2024

#### **BETWEEN:**

#### **CITY OF TORONTO**

(the "City")

- and -

#### **PROPONENT**

(the "Proponent")

#### **Background**

- A. At its meeting held on June 8 and 9, 2021, Council approved the issuing of a request for proposals (RFP) seeking an operator for the new affordable housing units being developed at 175 Cummer Avenue, Toronto, and the entering into of a municipal capital facility agreement with the successful proponent of the RFP;
- B. The Proponent submitted a proposal in response to the RFP and was selected by the City;
- C. Section 252 of the City of Toronto Act, 2006, S.O. 2006, c. 11, Sch. A (the "Act"), provides that the City may enter into agreements for the provision of a municipal capital facility by any person and that the City may exempt from taxation for municipal and school purpose land or a portion of land on which municipal capital facilities are located;
- Ontario Regulation No. 598/06, as amended, prescribes municipal facilities used for the provision of affordable housing as eligible municipal capital facilities for the purpose of section 252 of the Act;
- E. The City of Toronto passed By-law No. 183-2022 pursuant to the provisions of Section 252 of the Act and Ontario Regulation 598/06 to set out a definition for affordable housing and policies regarding eligibility for new affordable housing;
- F. Funding for the development of the new modular affordable housing units was provided through Canada Mortgage and Housing Corporation's Affordable Rental Housing Innovation Fund (the "Modular Funding") and the City of Toronto; and
- G. The parties wish to enter into this Agreement to set out the terms and conditions of the operation of the Project and the financial assistance and benefits to be provided to the Proponent.

**NOW THEREFORE** in consideration of the mutual covenants and other terms and conditions in this Agreement and the sum of Two Dollars (\$2.00) of lawful money of Canada now paid by each of the Parties to the other (the receipt and sufficiency whereof are acknowledged), the Parties agree as follows:

# ARTICLE 1 INTERPRETATION

- **1.1** In this Agreement and Schedules attached hereto, the following terms shall have the following respective meanings:
- "Access Plan" means a policy established by the Proponent and approved by the Executive Director, Housing Secretariat which policy shall specify how tenants are to be selected from among People and Populations who are Vulnerable, and who are or otherwise would be, in Severe Housing Need and how information about such process is disseminated to the public;
- "Affordability Criteria" has the meaning given to it in Section 8.6;
- "Affordability Period" means the term of the Lease;
- "Affordable Housing" means rental housing that is operated in accordance with the terms of this Agreement;
- "Assistance" has the meaning given to it in Section 4.1;
- "Average Market Rents" or "Average Rents" or "AMR" means average monthly Toronto-wide rents by unit type as determined in the end-of-year survey of City-wide rents for the prior calendar year published by CMHC; if CMHC does not publish a survey of City-wide rents, then Average Market Rents for the calendar year shall be City-wide average rents as determined by the City, acting reasonably;
- "Benchmark Market Rent" for Housing Benefit Units means 80% of the Average Market Rent current at the time of First Occupancy and thereafter the Benchmark Market Rent attributable to the Housing Benefit Units shall be adjusted annually to be the lesser of:
  - (i) the prior year Benchmark Market Rent attributable to the Housing Benefit Unit increased by the Rent Increase Guideline for the current year as established by the Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing or the CPI Adjustment, in accordance with Section 8.5 of this Agreement; or
  - (ii) 80% of the Average Market Rent current at the time.
- "CMHC" means the Canada Mortgage and Housing Corporation, and includes any successor organization;
- "CPI Adjustment" has the meaning given to it in Section 8.5;
- "Deputy City Manager" means the Deputy City Manager, Development and Growth Services for the City of Toronto, and includes such person's designate or successor, if any;

"Director, Housing Stability Services" means the Director responsible for the City's Housing Stability Services unit and includes such person's designate or successor, if any;

"Disposition" means any sale, assignment, transfer, conveyance, lease, licence or other disposition of any nature or kind whatsoever of any property or of any right, title or interest in or to any property;

"Eligible Household" means a person or group of persons who occupy a Housing Benefit Unit in the Project and meet the eligibility criteria to receive rent-geared-to-income assistance set out in the *Housing Services Act, 2011*, S. O. 2011, c. 6 Sched. 1;

"Executive Director, Housing Secretariat" means the Executive Director responsible for the administration of the City's Housing Secretariat and includes such person's designate or successor, if any;

"First Occupancy" means the first day of the first month immediately following the month in which the Unit is rented for the first rental period following the commencement of the Lease;

"Ground Lease" means the lease agreement for the lands between Toronto Community Housing Corporation as Landlord and the City as Tenant;

"Household Income" means total household income from all sources of all persons who reside in a Unit or who will reside in a Unit if it is rented to them as defined in the City's Affordable Rental Housing Administration Manual, as may be amended or replaced from time to time;

"Housing" means residential accommodation and facilities, common areas and services used directly with the residential accommodation. Housing does not include commercial or institutional premises, social or recreational services, and services or facilities related to mental or physical health care, education, corrections, food services, social support or public recreation other than those services described in Article 3 and Schedule D hereof;

"Housing Access System" means the City's centralized housing access system(s) including the Coordinated Access System, Centralized Waiting list, and other affordable housing access system(s) as may be determined by the City and approved as part of the Access Plan; and which includes the allocation and administration of Housing Benefits;

"Housing Benefits" means a financial benefit provided for or on behalf of a tenant to make up the difference between the rent geared-to-income payable by a tenant, calculated as 30% of the tenant's Household Income or the shelter allowance of their Ontario Works or Ontario Disability Support Program Benefits, and the Benchmark Market Rent;

"Housing Benefit Unit" means a Unit which is occupied by or allocated to an Eligible Household and any unit replacing such Housing Benefit Unit from time to time in accordance with this Agreement;

"Housing Benefits Funding" means the provision of Housing Benefits to Eligible Households occupying Units in the Project as specified in Schedule C;

"Indemnified Parties" has the meaning given to it in Section 10.1;

"Initial Income Limit" means Household Income at or below four (4) times the annualized Monthly Occupancy Costs;

"Initial Occupancy" means when a new tenant occupies a Unit regardless of whether it was previously rented;

"Internal Transfer" means a household who has requested, or is required, to make, an internal transfer from their unit to another unit in the Project;

"Lands" means the lands described in Article 3, together with any buildings or improvements thereon from time to time;

"Lease" means the sub-lease entered into between the City and the Proponent for the Lands;

"MFIPPA" means the *Municipal Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act*, R.S.O. 1990, c. M. 56;

"MFIPPA Protected Information" means any "Personal Information" as defined in MFIPPA;

"Modular Funding" has the meaning given in Recital E;

"Monthly Occupancy Costs" means the total of the monthly rent payable to the Proponent for a Unit including the cost of hydro, heat, water and hot water; and Monthly Occupancy Costs do not include charges for applicable taxes, parking, cable, internet, telephone or any other like charges;

"Notice" has the meaning given to it in Section 18.1;

"Parties" means the City and the Proponent and their respective successors and permitted assigns; and "Party" means any one of the Parties;

"Proposal" means the proposal submitted by the Proponent to the City in response to the Request for Proposals for a Non-profit Housing Provider to Lease and Operate Affordable Rental Housing with Support Services: 175 Cummer Avenue;

"Operating Budget" means the budget for the operation of the Project, as amended from time to time;

"Person" means any individual, partnership, corporation, trust, unincorporated organization, municipality, government, or governmental agency or any combination thereof;

"Project" means the Affordable Housing and associated space, to be operated by or on behalf of the Proponent in accordance with the terms and conditions of this Agreement, as outlined in Article 3 and the Lease, together with the support services to be provided in accordance with the Proposal and the Support Services Plan attached as Schedule "D";

"Rent Increase Guideline" means the prevailing rent increase guideline established each calendar year pursuant to the Residential Tenancies Act, 2006, S.O. 2006, c. 17, or any successor legislation;

"Spouse" means two individuals that refer to themselves as "spouses" and are considered as such for the purposes of determining affordable housing eligibility. This includes two individuals who live in the same unit if:

- · the social and familial aspects of the relationship amount to cohabitation; and
- · one individual provides financial support to the other; or
- the individuals have a mutual agreement or arrangement regarding their financial affairs.

"Support Services Agreement" means any support services agreement to be entered into by the Proponent and the City regarding the funding of support services provided to residential tenants at the Project;

"Transfer" means a Disposition of the Project or Lands or any transaction whereby the rights of the Proponent under this Agreement or any part, are transferred, and includes any transaction or occurrence whatsoever (including, but not limited to, the entering into of a mortgage, receivership proceedings, seizure by legal process and transfer by operation of law);

"Transferee" means the Person or Persons to whom a Transfer is or is to be made;

"Transitional Units" means those Units in the Project that are constructed, operated and maintained to exclusively support the transition of individuals living without housing or shelter into such Units;

"Unit" means a unit of Affordable Housing in the Project; and

"Utility Allowance" means the average amount of separately metered utility costs, determined by the City and published on the City's web site.

#### **1.2** The following schedules form part of this Agreement:

Schedule "A" Access Plan Template

Schedule "B" Proponent's Annual Occupancy Report

Schedule "C" Units Receiving Housing Benefits

Schedule "D" Support Services Plan

Schedule "E" Declaration of Compliance with Anti-Harassment/

Discrimination Legislation & City Policy

and the parties agree that unless the context clearly indicates otherwise, all references in this Agreement to "this Agreement" shall be deemed to include said schedules.

- 1.3 This Agreement, the Schedules incorporated into it by reference, the Proponent's Proposal and the Request for Proposals leading to the entering into of this Agreement, and any documents entered into pursuant to this Agreement, constitutes the entire agreement between the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof and all other prior agreements, representations, statements, negotiations and undertakings with respect to such subject matter are superseded hereby.
- **1.4** Any reference in this Agreement to a statute shall be deemed to include any regulations made under the statute, any amendments made from time to time and any successor legislation.

# **ARTICLE 2 GENERAL**

- **2.1** It is understood and agreed that this is a municipal capital facility agreement pursuant to Section 252 of the City of Toronto Act, 2006, S.O. 2006 c. 11, Sch A, and a municipal housing project facility agreement pursuant to the City's By-law No. 183-2022 "To enact a new Municipal Housing Facility By-law and to repeal By-law No.72-2022.
- **2.2** In the event of a conflict or inconsistency between the provisions of this Agreement and the provisions of a Schedule, the provisions of this Agreement shall prevail.
- **2.3** All references in this Agreement to section numbers are references to sections of this Agreement unless otherwise stated.

# ARTICLE 3 THE PROJECT

**3.1** The Proponent agrees to operate the Project as Affordable Housing for the Affordability Period, as detailed below:

**Location:** 175 Cummer Avenue

[<mark>TBD</mark>]

as more particularly described in the Sublease (the "Lands")

Affordable Housing: 59 studio Units

Monthly Occupancy Costs: An overall average at or below 80% of Average

Market Rent with no one Unit exceeding 100%

AMR.

ARTICLE 4
ASSISTANCE

- **4.1 Assistance.** The Assistance to be provided to the Proponent, shall be comprised of the following and shall be used solely for the operation of the Project:
  - (a) Lease. The City will enter into, concurrently with the execution of this Agreement, the Lease for a period of approximately 49 years, substantially in the form of the lease attached to the offer to Lease submitted by the Proponent with its Proposal;
  - (b) Property Tax Exemption. The City shall exempt the Project from taxation for municipal and school purposes for the Affordability Period.
- **4.2 Conditions Precedent.** The obligation of the City to enter into the Lease with the Proponent or to provide the tax exemption listed in Subsection 4.1 is conditional upon prior compliance by the Proponent with the following conditions precedent, unless waived in writing by the City:
  - the Proponent shall have provided an Access Plan, approved by the Executive Director, Housing Secretariat;
  - (b) the Proponent shall have provided certified copies of such corporate documents of the Proponent as the City may reasonably require including, without limitation, letters patent or articles of incorporation, and a certified copy of the directors' resolution authorizing the execution of this Agreement;
  - the Proponent shall have provided certificates of incumbency of the persons signing on behalf of the Proponent;
  - (d) the Proponent shall have provided proof of the insurance required pursuant to the terms of the Lease;
  - (e) the Proponent shall have provided the City with an up-to-date Operating Budget satisfactory to it;
  - (f) the representations and warranties of the Proponent set out in Article 6 hereof shall be true and correct and, if requested by the City, the Proponent shall have delivered a certificate or certificates to such effect;
  - (g) nothing shall have occurred which, in the sole opinion of the Executive Director, Housing Secretariat could reasonably be expected to have a material adverse effect on the business, property, assets, liabilities, conditions (financial or otherwise) or prospects of the Proponent;
  - the Proponent shall have provided any information the City may reasonably require to satisfy the requirements of any Governmental Authority with respect to the tax exemption;
  - (i) the Proponent shall have completed, signed and delivered a "Declaration of Compliance with Anti-Harassment/Discrimination Legislation & City Policy" form, a copy of which is attached as Schedule "E".

The Proponent acknowledges that failure to provide the information required under 4.2(h) could result in the effective date of the tax exemption, being later than the Lease commencement date. The City is not responsible for any costs incurred by the Proponent as a result of a delay in the enactment of the tax exemption by-law.

- **4.3 No Waiver.** The City providing any Assistance prior to the fulfillment of one or more of the conditions set forth herein shall not constitute a waiver by the City of any such condition, and the City reserves the right to require the fulfillment of each condition prior to the providing of any further Assistance.
- **4.4** Conditions Solely for the Benefit of the City. All conditions precedent are solely for the benefit of the City, its successors and assigns, and no other person shall have standing to require satisfaction of any condition and no other person shall be deemed to be a beneficiary of any such condition, any and all of which may be freely waived in whole or in part by the City at any time the City deems it advisable to do so.

# ARTICLE 5 PAYMENT OF HOUSING BENEFITS

- **5.1 Housing Benefits Funding.** Subject to this Article 5, for the duration of the Affordability Period, the City will provide Housing Benefits for the number of Units specified in Schedule C and the Proponent agrees to make available the number of Units specified in Schedule C as Housing Benefit Units.
- **5.2** Requests for Housing Benefits. The Proponent shall submit to the City its requests for Housing Benefits, together with all required supporting reconciliation statements, in a form satisfactory to the City and at regular intervals established by the City, which intervals shall not be more often than monthly and not less often than annually. Following its review and approval of such requests and supporting statements, the City will make any necessary adjustments to its applicable regular Housing Benefits payments to the Proponent.
- **5.3 Interim Payments.** Until such time as the City and the Proponent agree that payments should be paid in accordance with section 5.4, the Proponent will provide an invoice for each occupied Housing Benefit Unit and the City shall pay the invoice in accordance with the terms of invoice.
- **5.4** Payments and Annual Reconciliation. The City shall pay to the Proponent, during the term of this Agreement, an estimate of the Housing Benefits for each Unit for which Housing Benefits are to be paid, on the first (1st) day of each month following the month in which the term of the residential lease for such Unit commences. Payments will be made for each and every month of the term of each residential lease. The City will reconcile the actual Housing Benefits costs at the end of each fiscal year.
- **5.5** Provision of Housing Benefits Funding subject to Approval of Council. Notwithstanding City's obligation to provide any Housing Benefits Funding under this Agreement, this obligation does not arise if, at the time when a payment under this Agreement becomes due, the Council of the City of Toronto has not approved an operating budget that is sufficient and constitutes lawful authority for making the Housing Benefits payment. The City may reduce or terminate any Housing Benefits payment under this Agreement in

response to the reduction of program funding levels in respect of the program under which this Agreement was made or otherwise, as evidenced by any by-law. City will not be liable for any direct, indirect, consequential, exemplary or punitive damages, regardless of the form of action, whether in contract, tort or otherwise, arising from any such reduction or termination of Housing Benefits Funding.

- **5.6 Vacancy where Less than One Month's Notice.** If a Unit has been vacated or abandoned by an Eligible Household without at least one (1) month's prior notification to the Proponent (other than by an Eligible Household who received a notice to vacate), the City will pay to the Proponent, while the vacancy continues, an amount not exceeding 100% of Average Monthly Rent for the month immediately following that in which the vacancy occurs. If the Unit remains vacant despite diligent efforts by the Proponent to lease same, the City will pay an amount not exceeding 50% of the Average Monthly Rent for the second month following the occurrence of such vacancy. The City will make no further payments thereafter with respect to the Unit until it is leased to and occupied by an Eligible Household.
- **5.7 Vacancy where at Least One Month's Notice.** If a vacancy of a Unit occurs following at least one (1) month's prior notification given by an Eligible Household or occurs by reason of a notice of termination or an eviction served or carried out by the Proponent, the City will pay to the Proponent an amount not exceeding 50% of the Average Market Rent for the month immediately following the vacancy, but shall make no further payments thereafter until it is leased to and occupied by an Eligible Household.
- **5.8 Reconciliation Statements.** The Proponent shall submit to the City its requests for Housing Benefits, together with all required supporting reconciliation statements, in a form satisfactory to the City and at regular intervals established by the City, which intervals shall not be more often than monthly and not less often than annually. Following its review and approval of such requests and supporting statements, the City will make any necessary adjustments to its applicable regular Housing Benefits payments to the Proponent to account for any overpayment or underpayment of Housing Benefits as should on the reconciliation statement.
- **5.9 Damage to Unit.** If any Unit is damaged by fire, explosion, flood or any other unavoidable catastrophe to such an extent as to render it uninhabitable, the Proponent shall proceed to repair, restore and make habitable the damaged Unit in accordance with the provisions of the Lease. The Proponent acknowledges and agrees that the payment of Housing Benefits by the City to the Proponent with respect to any such damaged Unit shall cease as long as such Unit is uninhabitable.
- **5.10 Termination of Housing Benefits Funding.** If Housing Benefits Funding is terminated pursuant to this Agreement, the Housing Provider shall permit the Eligible Households occupying Units at the time such Housing Benefits Funding is terminated to remain in occupancy of their Units until their tenancies are terminated or until they cease to qualify for Housing Benefits, whichever first occurs, and the same conditions as to payment of the Housing Benefits by the City, and the provisions of this Agreement, insofar as they apply to such Eligible Households, shall remain binding on both Parties as if this Agreement had not been terminated.

# ARTICLE 6 REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES

- 6.1 The Proponent represents and warrants that,
  - (a) it is duly incorporated under the laws of Ontario or Canada;
  - (b) the Board of Directors of the Proponent, and if required by the Proponent's bylaws, its members, have authorized the Proponent to enter into this Agreement and such authorization has not been withdrawn;
  - it shall not alter, supersede or cancel its articles of incorporation, letters patent
    or other constating document in any way which would affect its ability to
    perform its obligations under this Agreement without the prior written consent
    of the City;
  - (d) no member of the House of Commons, Senate of Canada or the Council of the City or members of any of its agencies, boards or commissions shall be entitled to any share or part of this Agreement or to any benefit to arise therefrom:
  - (e) no individual to whom the City's Code of Conduct for Members of Council, the City's Re-Employment of Former City Employees' Policy or the Employee Conflict of Interest Policy apply, shall derive a direct benefit from this Agreement.
- **6.2** The Proponent agrees that the City shall be entitled to rely at all times on the representations and warranties set out in this Article.

# ARTICLE 7 GENERAL OBLIGATIONS OF THE PROPONENT

- **7.1** The Proponent shall:
  - (a) ensure that First Occupancy is achieved no later than [DATE], or such date as
    determined by the Executive Director, Housing Secretariat, acting reasonably;
  - (b) no later than thirty (30) days prior to First Occupancy, provide an Access Plan approved by the Executive Director, Housing Secretariat, in the form of the report attached as Schedule "A";
  - (c) comply with all terms of the Lease;
  - (d) comply with all applicable federal, provincial and municipal laws, regulations and by-laws;
  - (e) operate and maintain the Project in accordance with the terms and conditions
    of this Agreement and the Lease and in a good state of repair and fit for
    occupancy in the same manner as a prudent owner would do;

- (f) if required by the City at any time during the Affordability Period, make up to 100% of the Units available as Housing Benefit Units, in accordance with the terms and conditions of this Agreement or any other agreement entered into with the City with respect to those Units;
- (g) provide the support services to residential tenants residing at the Project as set out in the Support Services Plan attached as Schedule "D", in a skilled and competent manner;
- (h) where the Proponent has entered into a separate agreement with the City for the provision of Support Services at the Project, operate the Project and provide such Support Services to residential tenants residing at the Project in accordance with such agreement;
- establish a capital asset replacement reserve fund for the Project, in accordance with the terms of the Lease;
- (j) manage the Project in a fiscally responsible manner including ensuring that:
  - a deficit is not incurred in any year without the approval of the Director, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld; and
  - no expenditure is made which is of a material and excessive nature having regard to the normal practice for similar housing;
- (k) ensure that the Project is kept free and clear of all liens and encumbrances including but not limited to liens registered pursuant to the Construction Act, R.S.O. 1990, c. C.30. If a lien is registered against the Project, the Proponent will vacate the lien within ten (10) business days and provided that the lien has been vacated with ten (10) business days, the Proponent will not be considered to be in default of its obligations hereunder;
- (I) ensure that no Unit is rented to the Proponent or any shareholder, director or employee of the Proponent, or any individual not at arm's length to the Proponent, shareholder or director of the Proponent unless the Proponent is a non-profit co-operative as defined in the Co-operative Corporations Act, R.S.O. 1990, c. C.35, as amended, or is a not-for-profit corporation;
- (m) provide such information, within ten (10) days of such request, with respect to the Project, such as projected date of First Occupancy, as requested or required by the Executive Director, Housing Secretariat or the Director, Housing Stability Services, acting reasonably, from time to time;
- (n) provide representatives of the City, CMHC and Canada with access to its books, records, and to the Project, subject to any rights of the residential tenants of the Project;
- (o) comply with all directions from the City in relation to any material requirements of the City that are required for compliance with any applicable contribution

- agreement between the City and other levels of government with respect to the Assistance and the Project and for compliance with the Ground Lease;
- ensure that the City will be provided with access to all information obtained from the tenant concerning the Household Income and family composition of each Unit, which information the City may verify;
- ensure compliance with the provisions of MFIPPA, in its collection and sharing of any MFIPPA Protected Information, collected and shared, in accordance with the terms of this Agreement;
- comply with the requirements of the Human Rights Code, R.S.O. 1990, c. H.19 (r) (the "Ontario Human Rights Code") in its leasing of the Units to Eligible Households. Except as expressly permitted by the Ontario Human Rights Code, the Proponent shall not, in the allocation of any Unit, discriminate against any person by reason of race, ancestry, place of origin, colour, ethnic origin, citizenship, creed, sex, sexual orientation, gender identity, gender expression, age, marital status, family status, disability or the receipt of public assistance. The Proponent shall at all times indemnify and save harmless the City, its councillors, officers, employees, agents, successors and assigns (all of which are hereinafter called the "City Indemnitees") from and against any claims, demands, losses, costs, charges, expenses and penalties arising from any and all complaints, investigations, settlements, inquiries, hearings, applications, orders, prosecutions or other proceedings and all appeals from or judicial reviews of any of the foregoing (collectively referred to as "Actions") whatsoever made or brought against, suffered by or imposed on the City Indemnitees, directly or indirectly arising out of, resulting from or sustained as a result of the Proponent's failure to comply with the requirements of the Ontario Human Rights Code:
- (s) at or near the end of the first year of the Affordability Period, co-operate with the City in conducting an operational review and provide all requested relevant documents, calculations, statements or information with respect to the Project;
- (t) no later than ninety (90) days after the end of the calendar year in which First Occupancy occurs, and annually thereafter, provide to the City:
  - the Proponent's Annual Occupancy Report in the form of the report attached as Schedule "B", or in a form designated by the Director, Housing Stability Services;
  - a management representation report, in a form designated by the Director, Housing Stability Services including management declarations and a report on compliance with the provisions of this Agreement;
  - (iii) the Proponent's most recent audited financial statements for the Project in a form acceptable to the Director, Housing Stability Services; and

- (iv) information on the Household Income and household composition of the Units rented to new tenants during the year, in a form acceptable to the Director, Housing Stability Services;
- **7.2** With the exception of any information identified by the Proponent as confidential, the Proponent herby grants to the City a worldwide, non-exclusive, perpetual, irrevocable, royalty-free sub-licensable licence to use and to make such modifications as may be desirable to any data, reports, photographs, images, graphics, charts and other documents and information produced by the Proponent in connection with this Agreement and the Project, solely for the purposes of research and publicity, and not for any commercial purposes.

# ARTICLE 8 TENANT SELECTION, OCCUPANCY, AND MONTHLY OCCUPANCY COSTS

- **8.1** Tenant Verifications. For all Units, the Proponent shall take commercially reasonable steps, when entering into a tenancy agreement for a Unit, to confirm that the tenant has a Household Income that does not exceed the Initial Income Limit determined in accordance with the City's Affordable Rental Housing Administration Manual and in a form acceptable to the Director, Housing Stability Services.
- **8.2 Source of Tenants.** The Proponent shall, at the City's option, participate in the City's Housing Access System in accordance with the terms of the Proponent's Access Plan to be approved by the Executive Director, Housing Secretariat, or any similar process to be approved by the Executive Director, Housing Secretariat. Throughout the Affordability Period, the Proponent shall ensure that at least 10% of Units, or such greater number as required by the Executive Director, Housing Secretariat, shall be maintained as Transitional Units
- **8.3** Occupancy Requirements. The Proponent shall manage the Project for the duration of the Affordability Period so that:
  - the following occupancy standards are observed when entering into a tenancy agreement for a Unit:
    - a minimum of one and a maximum of two persons per Unit for adult household members;
    - ii. a maximum of one Unit for spouses; and
  - (b) occupancy is maximized.
- **8.4 Monthly Occupancy Costs.** For the duration of the Affordability Period, the Proponent shall manage the Project so that:
  - (a) the Monthly Occupancy Costs for any one Unit during the Affordability Period does not exceed 100% of Average Market Rent and the average across all Units does not exceed 80% of Average Market Rent;

**Commented [A1]:** This is not well defined (see p. 3)

- the actual Monthly Occupancy Costs paid by the tenant, after the application of Housing Benefits, if any, do not exceed the Affordability Criteria set out in Section 8.6;
- (c) if heat, water or hydro costs are separately metered and paid directly by the household of any Unit, the Proponent shall deliver the Utility Allowance by way of setting off the amount of the Utility Allowance against the monthly rent payable, such that the Monthly Occupancy Costs for any such Unit(s) shall not exceed the amount set out in (a) and (b) above; and
- (d) for Units receiving Housing Benefits, collect only the rental amount as determined by the Proponent in accordance with Article 5.
- **8.5 Monthly Occupancy Costs Increases.** Subject to Section 8.6, the Proponent may adjust the Monthly Occupancy Costs, with respect to a Unit, if at least twelve (12) months have elapsed:
  - (a) since First Occupancy of the Unit; or
  - (b) since the day of the last rent increase with respect to the Unit, if there has been an increase,

by no more than the prevailing Rent Increase Guideline, to an amount not to exceed Average Market Rent. The Proponent acknowledges that, if the Rent Increase Guideline does not apply to the Project under the *Residential Tenancies Act, 2006,* S.O. 2006, c. 17 or any successor legislation, the Proponent agrees that the Rent Increase Guideline applies by virtue of the contractual terms of this Agreement. In the event the Rent Increase Guideline is repealed and not replaced with similar legislation, Monthly Occupancy Costs may be adjusted based on annual changes to the Consumer Price Index - not seasonally adjusted, for all items - in January of each year for the Toronto Census Metropolitan Area (or, where available, the City of Toronto) as reported by Statistics Canada (the "CPI Adjustment"), to an amount not to exceed Average Market Rent.

- **8.6** Affordability Criteria. The actual Monthly Occupancy Costs paid by the tenant for any one Housing Benefit Unit, after the application of Housing Benefits, shall not exceed 60% of Average Market Rent (the "Affordability Criteria").
- **8.7 Tenant Provisions.** The Proponent shall ensure that each lease with a residential tenant for a Unit shall provide the following:
  - that the disclosure to the City or CMHC, by the Proponent, of the tenant's personal information, including Household Income and household composition, has been consented to by the tenant;
  - (b) that no Unit may be sublet or assigned by the residential tenant under any circumstances;
  - (c) a statement that the lease is exempt from section 8, paragraphs 6, 7 and 8 of subsection 30(1), sections 51, 52, 54, 55, 56 and 95 to 99, subsection 100 (2) and sections 101, 102, 104, 111 to 115, 117, 120, 121, 122, 126 to 133, 140,

- 143, 149, 150, 151, 159, 165 and 167 of the *Residential Tenancies Act, 2006,* S.O.2006, c. 17, that the unit is identified as a subsidized unit that was developed or acquired under a municipal capital facility by-law for housing and is subject this Agreement; and
- (d) a statement that the rent increases which can be imposed by the Proponent are controlled by the City, and cannot exceed the prevailing rent increase guideline established each calendar year pursuant to the Residential Tenancies Act, 2006, S.O. 2006, c. 17 or any successor legislation, to an amount not to exceed Average Market Rent.

# ARTICLE 9 FINANCIAL RECORDS, RIGHT TO AUDIT AND RIGHT TO ACCESS

- **9.1** The Proponent shall keep proper books of account and records of the financial management of the Project, in accordance with generally accepted business and accounting practices. The accounts and records shall include all invoices, receipts, vouchers and other documents relating to Project expenditures and revenues, including funding from all other sources.
- **9.2** The Proponent shall put in place written operational policies and procedures relating to the financial management of the Project and shall provide a copy of those policies and procedures to the Executive Director, Housing Secretariat.
- **9.3** The Proponent shall submit to the City within five months following the end of each fiscal year of the Proponent, an Annual Information Return in the form established by the City from time to time under this Agreement and the audited statements consisting of a balance sheet and a statement of revenue and expenditures for the year.
- **9.4** The Proponent shall retain all books, accounts, records (including records related to rent collection and tenant income and eligibility verification), receipts, vouchers and other documents, that pertain to the Project for a period of not less than seven (7) years from the end of each fiscal year of the Proponent to which the records relate.
- **9.5** The Proponent will make such books, accounts and records available at all reasonable times for audit and inspection by the auditors of CMHC and/or the City or anyone designated in writing by the auditor to ensure compliance with the terms and conditions of this Agreement and verify costs claimed by the Proponent.
- **9.6** The Proponent acknowledges and agrees that all accounts and records pertaining to payments of fees or other compensation for the solicitation, negotiating or obtaining of this Agreement shall be subject to the accounts and audit provisions of this Agreement.
- **9.7** The Proponent shall make available all facilities, physical and otherwise, for the audits and inspections and shall provide CMHC and/or the City and their authorized representatives with all of the information as it, or they, may from time to time require with reference to the books, accounts, records, receipts, vouchers and other documents.

- **9.8** The Proponent shall permit the City's representatives to make copies and take extracts from such books and records and shall furnish CMHC and/or the City with such additional information as it may require with reference to such books and records.
- **9.9** CMHC, the City or a third party representative of either or both CMHC and the City may conduct onsite visits to inspect and monitor the operation of the Units and compliance with the terms and conditions of this Agreement. All site visits are for CMHC's and the City's program and risk management purposes only and are not to be considered a technical inspection to confirm the quality of the work or the Recipient's compliance with applicable laws, including Ontario's Building Code.
- 9.10 For the purposes of this article, audit includes any type of audit.
- **9.11** This article shall survive the termination of this Agreement.

# ARTICLE 10 INDEMNITY

- 10.1 The Proponent hereby agrees that it shall, from time to time, and at all times hereafter, well and truly save, keep harmless and fully indemnify the City, the Government of Canada, CMHC, and their elected and appointed officials, officers, directors, employees, agents, representatives, successors and assigns (collectively, the "Indemnified Parties"), from and against any and all actions, claims and demands whatsoever which may be brought against or made upon the Indemnified Parties and against any and all loss, liability, claims, judgments, costs, demands or expenses whatsoever which the Indemnified Parties may sustain, suffer or be put to resulting from or arising out of or in connection with:
  - (a) this Agreement;
  - (b) the Project, including without limitation, environmental hazards (subject however to the terms of the Lease with respect to environmental hazards);
  - (c) the obligations of the Proponent hereunder;
  - (d) the failure of the Proponent, its officers, consultants, contractors, agents, servants or employees to exercise reasonable care, skill or diligence in carrying out any work in respect of the Project;
  - (e) any act or omission of the Proponent, its officers, agents, servants, consultants, contractors, employees or by anyone for whom the Proponent is at law responsible relating to any work, any service or any other thing required to be performed or rendered hereunder by the Proponent;
  - (f) all insured and uninsured damage to property installed, property in transit and contractors' tools and equipment during the course of the renovation or repair work to the Project; and/or
  - (g) death or economic loss, caused by or in any way related to any of the Proponent's obligations under this Agreement.

provided that the Proponent shall not be liable for any actions, loss, liability, claims, judgements, costs, demands or expenses which result from negligent or wrongful acts of the

Indemnified Parties or for those whom in law the Indemnified Parties are responsible.

# ARTICLE 11 INSURANCE

- **11.1 Property Insurance.** The Proponent shall, at all times during the Affordability Period, insure and keep insured the Project and all other insurable property belonging to the Proponent and from time to time located on the Project in accordance with the terms of the Lease.
- **11.2** Certificates of Insurance and Approval of Policies. The Proponent shall deliver certificates of insurance to the City, including the renewal or the replacement of the insurance policies, upon request of the Executive Director, Housing Secretariat.

# ARTICLE 12 TRANSFERS AND ASSIGNMENTS

- **12.1** The Proponent shall not, without the prior written consent of the City, which consent may be unduly delayed and unreasonably withheld, Transfer the Project to any person, in whole or in part, and any such purported Transfer is void and of no effect. Any request for consent shall be accompanied by such information and documentation as reasonably required by the City. The City may, in its sole discretion, charge a commercially reasonable administration fee for such request.
- **12.2** The Project shall not be the subject of a Transfer unless the Transferee has first entered into an assignment and assumption agreement with the City assuming the covenants set forth herein, which agreement shall be duly executed by the Transferee and delivered to the City prior to the Transfer.
- **12.3** Notwithstanding any other statement in this Article 12, the Proponent may lease Units in the Project to residential tenants.

# ARTICLE 13 DEFAULT AND REMEDIES

- **13.1** The following shall be considered events of default under this Agreement:
  - (a) the Proponent has, in the opinion of the City, acting reasonably, failed to proceed with the implementation and/or the operation of the Project in a timely manner, except where such failure is due to causes which, in the opinion of the City, acting reasonably, are beyond the control of the Proponent;
  - (b) the Proponent ceases to operate the Project pursuant to the terms and conditions of this Agreement;
  - (c) the Proponent is in default under the Lease, which default has gone uncured in the time period given by the City;

- (d) the Proponent has breached Article 6, Article 7, or Article 8 of this Agreement, in whole or in part;
- the Proponent, in its Proposal or in connection with this Agreement, has made materially false or misleading representations or statements, or provided materially false or misleading information to the City;
- (f) if in the opinion of the City, acting reasonably, the Proponent knows or ought reasonably to have known at Initial Occupancy that a Unit was rented to a tenant whose Household Income exceeds the Initial Income Limit, that the household composition has been misrepresented or has not been verified on Initial Occupancy as set out in Section 7.1hereof;
- (g) the Proponent knows or ought reasonably to have known, in the opinion of the City, acting reasonably, that the average Monthly Occupancy Costs for the Project exceed 80% of Average Market Rent, or that the average Monthly Occupancy Costs for any one Unit exceed 100% of Average Market Rent; or that the actual Monthly Occupancy Costs paid by the tenant for any one Unit, after the application of Housing Benefits, if any, exceed the Affordability Criteria set out in Section 8.6;
- (h) the Proponent is unable or unwilling to pay its debts as they become due;
- an order is made or resolution is passed for the winding up or dissolution of the Proponent, or the Proponent is dissolved;
- the Proponent becomes bankrupt or insolvent or takes the benefit of any act now or hereafter in force for bankrupt or insolvent debtors or fails any proposal or makes any assignment for creditors or any arrangement or compromise;
- a receiver or receiver-manager is appointed for the Project by a creditor other than the City;
- (I) if the City gives notice that it does not approve the Proponent's insurer;
- (m) the Proponent commits fraud, misconduct, criminal acts, gross negligence or willful misconduct; or
- (n) there is, in the opinion of the City, acting reasonably, a material adverse change in risk in the Proponent's ability to carry out its roles and responsibilities under this Agreement with respect to the implementation and/or the operation of the Project.
- **13.2** If there is an event of default by the Proponent that is continuing, and the default has not been remedied within thirty (30) days of receipt by the Proponent of written notice of an event of default or within such longer period as is required and the City may allow, the City may, in its absolute discretion, without restricting any remedies otherwise available:
  - require the Proponent to provide additional information or documents to the City;

- (b) rescind the tax exemption by-law passed with respect to the Project;
- (c) correct the breach itself or by retaining a third party and the reasonable cost of so doing shall be payable forthwith by the Proponent to the City and may be retained from any unpaid portion of the funding being provided pursuant to this Agreement or may be recovered in any court of competent jurisdiction as a debt due to the City;
- (d) appoint or seek the appointment of a manager and/or receiver for the Project, whether an officer, employee or agent of the City or not, if the City has determined that there are serious financial matters that could result or have resulted in the Proponent being unable to pay its debts as they become due;
- (e) terminate the Agreement by giving written notice to the Proponent; and/or
- (f) seek any additional remedy available to the City at law or in equity.
- **13.3** For the purposes of this Section, the Proponent will be found to have remedied the default if, for the purposes of Subsection 13.1(f), the Proponent submits a plan satisfactory to the Executive Director, Housing Secretariat attempting to prevent future defaults.
- **13.4** If the City gives the Proponent written notice of an event of default, the City may suspend the provision of any further City Benefits under this Agreement until the breach is remedied.
- **13.5** Upon providing a notice of termination, the City shall have no obligation to provide Assistance to the Proponent and the City shall have no obligation to provide the Housing Benefits except as set out in Section 5.10.
- **13.6** All rights and remedies of the City under this Agreement shall be cumulative and not alternative.

# ARTICLE 14 RECEIVERSHIP

- **14.1** Where a Receiver is appointed by the City pursuant to Section 13.2, the Receiver shall have the power to:
  - take control, direction and possession, or any of them, of the Project, the revenue and the assets of the Proponent, the operation and books, records and accounts of the Proponent or any part of them;
  - (b) take control and direction of the employees and agents of the Proponent;
  - (c) receive and recover and use all revenues and assets of the Proponent;
  - (d) incur and pay liabilities;
  - (e) maintain, operate and repair the Project; and

- (f) execute and prosecute all suits, proceedings and actions which the Receiver considers necessary for the proper protection of the Project, to defend all suits, proceedings and actions against the Proponent or the Receiver, to appear in and conduct the prosecution and defence of any suit, proceeding or action, then pending or thereafter instituted and to appeal any suit, proceeding or action.
- **14.2** The City may at any time and from time to time change, terminate or renew the mandate of the Receiver or replace or reinstate the Receiver and fix the reasonable remuneration of the Receiver who may deduct the same out of the revenues of the Project.
- **14.3** Without limiting any rights of the City under this Agreement, the City acknowledges that it is the intention of the City to reinstate the Proponent whenever feasible, as determined by the City, as a self-governed entity retaining substantial control of the management of the Project within sixty days after the receivership becomes effective.
- **14.4** The Receiver shall be deemed to be the agent or attorney of the Proponent and the City shall not be responsible for the Receiver's acts or omissions.
- **14.5** The Proponent undertakes to ratify and confirm whatever the Receiver may do pursuant to the Receiver's mandate.

# ARTICLE 15 CONFIDENTIALITY AND PERSONAL INFORMATION

- **15.1** The Proponent, its officers, agents and employees shall treat all information which is obtained by the Proponent through its performance of this Agreement, as confidential and shall not disclose same, other than in accordance with this Agreement, without the prior written approval of the City, unless required by law, provided, however, that the Proponent shall notify the City immediately upon learning of the possibility of any such requirement in order to allow the City or CMHC a reasonable opportunity to contest or limit the scope of such required disclosure (including application for a protective order or other remedy).
- **15.2** Notwithstanding Subsection 15.1, the Proponent may disclose information to its lawyers, accountants and other professionals, provided that such persons require the information in order to properly perform their duties.
- **15.3** The Proponent shall not, unless required by law, release information pertaining to tenants and applicants for tenancy at the Project to third parties without first obtaining the written consent of the affected tenant or applicant.
- **15.4** The collection, use and disclosure of information by the City shall be governed by MFIPPA.
- **15.5** Notwithstanding that the *Housing Services Act, 2011* ("HSA") does not apply to the Project, the Proponent agrees, as a contractual obligation, that it shall comply with the standards prescribed under section 169 of the HSA for the collection, use, disclosure and safeguarding of privacy of personal information and for a person's access to his or her personal information, including personal information which the Proponent has obtained from

- the City. The Proponent shall comply with all other applicable legislative requirements concerning the safeguarding of personal information, including personal health information, including, as applicable, the requirements of the *Personal Information Protection and Electronic Documents Act,* S.C. 2000, c. 5 and the *Personal Health Information Protection Act, 2004* S.O.. 2004, c. 3, Schedule A.
- **15.6** The Parties shall hold confidential any information clearly identified and marked as confidential or that reasonably should be understood to be confidential given the nature of the information and the circumstances of disclosure. Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed in a manner that would contravene the access to information and privacy legislation that applies to the Parties.
- **15.7** The Proponent consents to the collection, use and disclosure of information submitted to CMHC by the City for the following purposes: (i) to assess the Proponent's eligibility under the Modular Funding; (ii) for analytics, policy analysis, auditing and research by CMHC; (iii) to communicate to the Proponent possible opportunities under other CMHC programs, or possible collaboration opportunities with third parties; (iv) for evaluation of the Modular Funding program; (v) for use by CMHC in and the Government of Canada for purposes related to the *National Housing Act* (Canada); and (vi) for information verification and due diligence purposes, including to detect and protect CMHC from errors and fraud.

# ARTICLE 16 PUBLIC ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF FUNDS

- **16.1** The Proponent shall ensure that in any and all communication activities, internet web site information, publications, advertising, signs and press releases referring to the Project, there is included an appropriate acknowledgement, in accordance with the guidelines and instructions provided by the City to the Proponent, of the contributions made by CMHC, the Government of Canada and the City. The Proponent shall notify the City in advance of any and all communication activities, including media and fundraising events, publications, advertising and press releases.
- **16.2** The Proponent agrees to display such signs, plaques or symbols as one or more of the three levels of government may provide in such locations on its premises as the City may designate.
- **16.3** The Proponent shall co-operate with representatives of the City and CMHC during any official ceremonies relating to the promotion of the Project.

### ARTICLE 17 DISPUTE RESOLUTION

**17.1** The City and Proponent agree that alternate dispute resolution processes such as mediation, appointment of a neutral third party evaluator or arbitration may be preferable to litigation as a way to resolve disputes that may arise under this Agreement and they agree to

give good faith consideration to having resort to an alternate dispute resolution process before initiating legal or other proceedings to deal with any such disputes.

**17.2** In the event the parties agree to arbitration, the arbitration shall be governed by the provisions of the *Arbitration Act*, *1991*, S.O. 1991 c.17.

#### ARTICLE 18 NOTICES

- **18.1** Unless otherwise provided in this Agreement, any notice, approval or other communication required or permitted to be given ("Notice") shall be in writing and shall be personally delivered, sent by prepaid registered mail, or sent by email and, in the case of Notice to the City, addressed as follows:
  - (a) if to the City, at:

City of Toronto Metro Hall, 55 John Street, 7<sup>th</sup> Floor Toronto, ON M5V 3C6 Email: HSS@toronto.ca

Attention: Executive Director, Housing Secretariat

with a copy to the City Solicitor, at

City of Toronto 55 John Street, Station 1260 26th Floor, Metro Hall Toronto, ON M5V 3C6 Email: legalrec@toronto.ca

Attention: City Solicitor

(b) if to the Proponent, at:

Email: Attention:

- **18.2** Any Notice shall be deemed to have been validly and effectively given and received: (1) if personally delivered, on the date of delivery; (2) if sent by prepaid registered mail, on the third (3<sup>rd</sup>) business day next following the date of mailing, provided, however, that during any postal disruption or threatened postal disruption, notice shall be provided by personal delivery or email; and (3) if sent by email prior to 5:00 p.m. on a Business Day, on the day on which it was sent, or otherwise on the Business Day next following the day on which it was sent.
- **18.3** Any Notice permitted or required to be given by the City may be given by the Deputy City Manager. However, the Deputy City Manager specifically reserves the right to submit the issue of the giving of any Notice, or of the contents of any Notice, to City Council for its determination.

**18.4** Either Party under this Agreement may from time to time by Notice to the other party change its address for service under this Agreement.

# ARTICLE 19 CONTRACTUAL STATUS OF THE PARTIES

- **19.1** The Proponent shall be solely responsible for the payment of any person or entity employed, engaged or retained by the Proponent for the purpose of carrying out the Project or otherwise assisting it in the discharge of its obligations under this Agreement.
- **19.2** The Proponent shall ensure that any contract entered into by it in respect of the Project is in its own name and is in no way purports to be binding upon the City.
- **19.3** The Proponent acknowledges that it is not the agent or representative of the City and has no authority to make a promise, agreement or contract on behalf of the City in respect of the Project.
- **19.4** The Parties agree that, in respect of the Project, the City and Toronto Community Housing Corporation are not an "Owner" within the meaning of the *Construction Act*, R.S.O. 1990, c. C.30.

# ARTICLE 20 UNCONTROLLABLE CIRCUMSTANCES

- **20.1** Except as expressly provided for in this Agreement, neither Party shall be in default under this Agreement or liable to the other party for any loss, damage or delay to the extent it results from an uncontrollable circumstance if such circumstance is neither caused by the default or act of commission or omission of such Party nor avoidable by the exercise of reasonable effort or foresight provided that nothing excuses a delay caused by lack of funds or other financial circumstances or excuses a Party from payment of any amount payable hereunder when due.
- **20.2** For the purpose of this Article, the words "uncontrollable circumstance" means any force majeure, strike, walkout, labour dispute, civil commotion, war or similar event, invasion, the exercise of military power, act of God, change in laws, government regulations or controls, court order, or any cause beyond the reasonable control of the party, unless any such lack of control results from deficiency in financial resources.

# ARTICLE 21 GENERAL PROVISIONS

- **21.1** The Proponent shall permit the City to provide an executed copy of this Agreement to the governments of Canada and Ontario.
- **21.2** This Agreement may be changed only by written amendment duly executed by authorized representatives of both parties.

- **21.3** In this Agreement, words in or implying the singular include the plural and vice versa, and words having gender include all genders.
- **21.4** The insertion of headings and the division of this Agreement into articles and subdivisions thereof is for convenience of reference only and shall not affect the interpretation hereof.
- **21.5** Any reference in this Agreement to an "article" or any subdivision thereof shall, unless the context otherwise requires, be taken as a reference to the correspondingly-labelled provision of this Agreement.
- **21.6** Time shall in all respects be of the essence of all matters provided for in this Agreement, provided that the time for the doing or completing of any matter may be extended or abridged by an agreement, in writing, executed by the City and the Proponent, or by their respective solicitors, who are expressly appointed for that purpose.
- **21.7** The waiver by a party of strict compliance or performance of any of the terms and conditions of this Agreement or of any breach on the part of any other party shall not be held or deemed to be a waiver of any subsequent failure to comply strictly with or perform the same or any other term or condition of this Agreement or of any breach thereof.
- **21.8** No waiver of any breach of any provision of this Agreement will be effective or binding unless it is in writing and signed by an authorized representative of the party purporting to give such waiver and, unless otherwise provided, will be limited to the specific breach waived.
- **21.9** This Agreement shall not be assigned by the Proponent without the prior written consent of the Executive Director, Housing Secretariat which consent may be withheld or given subject to such terms and conditions as the Executive Director, Housing Secretariat deems appropriate.
- **21.10** Should any provision of this Agreement be declared or found to be illegal, unenforceable, legally ineffective or void, then each party shall be relieved of any obligation arising from such provision, but the balance of this Agreement, if capable of performance, shall remain in full force and effect.
- **21.11** This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the Province of Ontario.
- **21.12** Each obligation of the City or of the Proponent expressed in this Agreement, even though not expressed as a covenant, is considered to be a covenant for all purposes.
- **21.13** The covenants, representations, warranties and indemnity of the Proponent set forth in this Agreement shall survive the expiry of the Affordability Period.
- **21.14** Wherever any consent, agreement or approval of the City is required under the terms of this Agreement, unless otherwise provided and subject to any specific provision respecting such consent, agreement or approval, the City shall not unreasonably or arbitrarily withhold its consent, agreement or approval.

- **21.15** Notwithstanding any consent or approval given by the City with respect to any plans, specifications or other construction-related matter, the City will not be in any way liable for the design or construction of any proposed structure, and the party that has obtained the consent or approval of the City shall be wholly liable for such design and construction.
- **21.16** Nothing in this Agreement derogates from or interferes with or fetters the exercise by the City of all of its rights as a municipality, or imposes any obligations on the City, in its role as a municipality, and the City shall not be prevented from or prejudiced in carrying out its statutory rights and responsibilities, including planning rights and responsibilities. Nothing in this Agreement derogates from or interferes with or fetters the exercise by the City's officers, employees, agents, representatives or elected and appointed officials of all of their rights, or imposes any obligations on the City's officers, employees, agents, representatives or elected and appointed officials, other than as expressly set out in this Agreement.
- 21.17 No communication or dealing between the Proponent and any department, committee, body, officer, employee, agent, representative or elected or appointed official of the City will be deemed to be a communication or dealing under the provisions of this Agreement between the Proponent and the City as Parties to this Agreement, or to affect the City with notice of any such communication or dealings. It is intended and agreed that the City acts solely in a private capacity under this Agreement and any communication or dealing between the City and the Proponent as Parties to this Agreement will only be effective if delivered in accordance with the notice provisions set out in this Agreement. No communication or dealing between the City as a Party to this Agreement and the Proponent as a Party to this Agreement will relieve the Proponent from the responsibility of discharging its lawful obligations to the City imposed by statute, regulation, by-law or in any other lawful manner separate and apart from the obligations of the Proponent imposed by this Agreement.
- **21.18** This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts (including counterparts delivered electronically) and all such counterparts taken together will be deemed to constitute one and the same instrument. This Agreement may be executed by electronic signature that is received by the City in a file format acceptable to the City. Such electronic signature shall be deemed to be an original signature for the purpose of this Agreement with the same legal effect as an original signature.
- **21.19** This Agreement shall enure to the benefit of and be binding upon the parties and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

[Remainder of this page left intentionally blank.]

Authorized by Item No. CC20.6 as adopted by City of Toronto Council on April 30, 2020, Item No. PH23.3 as adopted by City of Toronto Council on June 8 and 9, 2021 and Item No. PH35.21 as adopted by City of Toronto Council on July 19, 20, 21 and 22, 2022.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF the parties hereto

I/We have authority to bind the Corporation

have affixed their respective corporate seals attested to by the hands of their proper signing officers in that behalf duly authorized.

APPROVED AS TO FORM	CITY OF TORONTO
For Wendy Walberg City Solicitor File # XXXXX	Per: Name: Abigail Bond Title: Executive Director, Housing Secretariat
	PROPONENT
	Per: Name: Title:
	Per: Name: Title:

#### SCHEDULE "A" **ACCESS PLAN TEMPLATE**

#### **ACCESS PLAN -**

This is the Access Plan for the project indicated below. The Access Plan includes, but is not limited to, a project description; mandates/target groups; depth of affordability and initial occupancy costs; relevant policies; housing benefit allocations and partnerships, as applicable. The access plan also identifies how the project will be marketed (if applicable), along with how tenants will be selected to lease units using a fair and transparent process.

This Access Plan and any amendments must be approved by the Director of Housing Stability Services.

PART 1 PROJECT DESCRIP	TION	
1. Contact Information:		
Proponent Name:	Proponent Pho	one Number:
Proponent Email Address:		
Property Manager Name:	Property Mana	ger Phone Number:
Property Manager Email Address:		
2. Project Address (including neare	st major intersection):	
3. Council Approval:		
Contribution Agreement Date of I	Execution:	
5. Initial Occupancy Date:		
6. Project Features (e.g. accessibili	ty features, common area amenit	ies, etc.):
Communal balcony/terrace	Smoke free	On-site management office
Air Conditioning	Fitness facilities	Playground
Elevator	Mail room	Outdoor communal space (e.g. courtyard, rooftop terrace, etc.)
Stair only	Wheelchair accessible building	Bicycle storage
Indoor parking	On-site laundry	Storage/lockers
Outdoor parking	Meeting/party room	
Visitor parking		

7.	List/describe any o applicable, not me		munity amenit	ies within the larger development, if
3.		in explanation on which utilities a ring, along with any utility charge		y the landlord and which the tenant is as applicable.
	Utility	Provided by landlord	Tenant	pays
	Hydro			
	Heat			
	Water			
	Hot water			
P	ART 2 TARGET	POPULATION AND UNIT 1	YPE	
1.		Froup: Identify if the project, or a		er of units in the project, has an ites, Victims of Domestic Violence, etc.
		Mandate/Target Group		No. of Units

2. Unit Type: Complete the chart below and identify the following details, if applicable:

		Affordable Units*					
UNIT TYPE	TOTAL UNIT	# Barrier Free	# Fully Accessible	# with Rent Supplement Benefits	# Under Referral Agreement or Head Lease		
Bachelor							
1-bed							
2-bed				8			
3-bed							
4-bed							
5-bed							

<sup>\*</sup>Note: Units indicated in the "Total Unit Count" column may fall into none or multiple categories within the same row, therefore unit counts in these columns may not add up to the total number listed in the Total Unit Count column.

3. Provide any other additional explanation or further details regarding unit type or allotment:

#### PART 3 INITIAL MONTHLY OCCUPANCY COST AND RENT INCREASES

- The AMR and Utility Allowances are updated annually and are available on the City's website.
- Utility allowances are subtracted from monthly occupancy costs if tenants are required to pay their utilities.
- The annual increase must not be greater than the prevailing <u>Rent Increase Guideline</u> established each calendar year pursuant to the Residential Tenancies Act, 2006 or any successor legislation.
- Acceptable adjustments to Monthly Occupancy Costs are outlined in Section 11.1 of the Affordable Housing Administration Manual.

 Indicate the initial depth of affordability by entering the number of units by unit type, as outlined in the Contribution Agreement:

Unit Type	60% AMR	80% AMR	100% AMR	
Bachelor				
1-bed				
2-bed				
3-bed				
4-bed				
5-bed				

Indicate the initial rent per unit type along with utility allowances if applicable. Figures reflected below should be based on current year AMRs, and will be updated based on the date of initial occupancy:

Unit Type	Initial Rent	<b>Utility Allowance</b>	
-Select One-			
Bachelor			

#### PART 4 BASIC ELIGIBILITY REQUIREMENTS

All applicants must meet the basic eligibility requirements. Full details of the requirements are outlined in Section 4 of the Affordable Housing Administration Manual.

Any landlord screening practices beyond the review of basic eligibility must be fair, reasonable, in compliance with the <a href="Ontario Human Rights Code">Ontario Human Rights Code</a>, and ensures that tenants are not arbitrarily refused units. Minimum income criteria may not be used as sole criteria for refusal. Factors that improve affordability such as a household's receipt of a housing allowance or child tax credits, and availability of a guarantor must be considered. If refused an offer, all applicants that have completed the full application process should receive a written response. Full details of the requirements are outlined in Section 8 of the Affordable Housing Administration Manual.

1. Οι	utline additional landlord screening	ing practices which will be considered:	
	Landlord reference rental history	Income criteria credit checks	
	Other:		

2.	Outline additional landlord screening practices that will be utilized to ensure the inclusion of low or moderate income households, e.g. guarantors, use of housing allowances, etc.
3.	Explain any applicable policies or processes that address a refusal to offer housing or appeals process. Attach corresponding documents if applicable.

#### PART 5 HOUSING BENEFIT ALLOCATION

For housing benefits, Housing Providers are subject to the terms and conditions set forth in the applicable Agreement:

- Agreement:
   For non-profit housing providers, the City may enter into an administration agreement or amend a current agreement and the proponent will administer housing benefits as the City's agent
   All housing benefit units will be filled through the centralized wait list (CWL), including upon turnover, unless an appropriate alternative or supportive housing mandate is in place for the building (or number of dedicated units within the building)
   Dedicated alternative or supportive housing units should continue to be filled through the referral pathway outlined in the Access Plan and/or applicable agreement.
   Please list any housing benefits and their funding source that are not being provided by the City of Toronto
- 1. Describe how housing benefit units will be allocated to tenants by completing the table below.

Target Group	Unit Type	# of Units	Housing Benefit Type	Funding Source	Referral Source (ex: CWL)

2. Provide any other additional explanation, such as any differences when filling a vacancy upon turnover, or any further details (if applicable):

#### PART 6 TENANT APPLICATION PROCESS

 Provide detailed information on how your units will be marketed (if applicable) and filled as per program guidelines. For projects with referral agreements, include this information in Part 7. For units that are promoted publicly, strategic and inclusive marketing principles should be considered to ensure the process to fill units remains fair and transparent. Where applicable, include any infrastructure used for initial occupancy advertising and application submission, including any applicable websites or links,

Note: As per the Contribution Agreement, Housing Providers shall participate in the City's Housing Access System when established, in accordance with the terms of an approved Access Plan.

#### PART 7 PARTNERSHIPS AND REFERRAL AGREEMENTS

- Provide details regarding partnerships and/or referral pathways:
   Describe the source of funding for supports and if applicable, housing benefits
   Contact details including name, title, email and phone for referral partners
   Describe how units will be filled via referral pathways

  - Describe how units will be filled via referral pathways
     Attach any applicable legal agreements such as a Referral Agreements or Head Lease.

#### PART 8 UNIT ALLOCATION

- 1. Provide details on how Affordable Housing units will be allocated to applicants who are not coming from the Centralized Waiting List (CWL) or alternative or supportive housing referral pathways. Include the following details:
- Households must be selected using the random draw process outlined in Section 7.4 of the Affordable Housing Administration Manual, unless other referral pathways are approved for housing with supports, housing benefits or mandates
- The approach and application process used to select tenants
- Identify how this process and approach will be transparent and fair Identify how tenants will be communicated with and notified of the application process
- For successful tenants who will receive an Affordable Housing unit, identify how the process will be in compliance with the Affordable Housing Administration Manual

#### PART 9 FILLING UNIT VACANCIES UPON TURNOVER

- Provide details on how affordable housing units will be filled upon turnover to applicants who are not coming from the Centralized Waiting List (CWL) or alternative or supportive housing referral pathways, Include the following details:
  - The approach used to select tenants

  - If applicable, how the internal waitlist will be leveraged The length of time an applicant remains on the provider's waitlist
  - Identify how this process and approach will be transparent and fair Identify how tenants will be communicated with including timelines

  - For successful tenants who will receive an Affordable Housing unit, identify how the process will be in compliance with the Affordable Housing Administration Manual

#### PART 10 CONFLICT OF INTEREST POLICY

 Outline restrictions on eligibility for the organization's staff, Board of Directors (if applicable) and their family. Attach organizational conflict of interest policies, if applicable.

#### PART 11 INTERNAL TRANSFER POLICY

1. Explain your internal transfer policy, or provide the policy as an attachment.

An internal transfer policy outlines the eligibility requirement and processes for a household transferring from one unit to another in a project.

#### **PART 12 REPORTING**

Housing Providers are required to complete reporting as a part of the Affordable Housing Program. Full details of reporting requirements can be found in Section 12 of the Affordable Housing Administration Manual.

#### PART 13 APPLICATION AND LEASE REQUIREMENTS

A signed Eligibility and Household Income Review Form, found in the Affordable Housing Administration Manual, with all supporting documentation and a signed lease agreement must be on file for each household

For mandatory lease requirements, refer to Section 11.3 of the Affordable Housing Administration Manual.

#### PART 14 PERSONAL INFORMATION AND RECORD-KEEPING

Housing Providers must ensure that the requirement pertaining to Collecting and Keeping Information and Protecting Personal Information as outlined in Section 10 of the Affordable Housing Administration Manual are met.

#### PART 15 OTHER

1. List any other information pertaining to this project's access plan not already indicated above. List any appendices that will be attached as supplementary information with this access plan:

PART 16 APPROVAL	
Per (Authorized Signature)	
Print Name	
Title:	
I / We have the authority to bind the corporation	
City of Toronto	
Per (Authorized Signature)	
Print Name	
Director, Housing Stability Services  I / We have the authority to bind the corporation	

# SCHEDULE "B" PROPONENT'S ANNUAL OCCUPANCY REPORT

For the Year Ended December 31, 20XX

A. Project Information	
Reference No.	
Project Name	
Property Address	
Occupancy Date	
Contribution Date	
Contribution Agreement Expiry Date	

#### B. Average Rents at Year End

	Previous	year	Current Year					
Unit Type	Actual Rent per Unit per Month (A)	RTA Permitte d Increase per Unit per month X % (specify)	Actual Rent per Unit per Month (\$)	Rent Increase (D)= (A)		(E) CMHC or Cit published AMR	у	е
Bachelor		(2)						
1 BR								
2 BR								
3 BR								
4 BR								
Other (specify)								
TOTAL								

#### C. Depth of Affordability: Rents during year of reporting

Unit Type	Unit Size	Number of Units (A)	Actual Rent to be charged per month (B)	CMHC Average market Rent (AMR - 20XX) or City published AMR (C)	Actual Project Rents (D)=(A)X(B)	Project Rents as per CMHC AMR or City Published (E)=(A)X(C)
Bachelor						
1 BR						
2 BR						
3BR						
Others (specify)						
TOTAL						

#### Notes:

- For Column (B), actual rent is the net to occupants after all subsidies
   For Column (C), Alternate e.g. modified Ontario Works Shelter Allowance, ODSP (in the event CMHC AMR does not apply)

Weighted Average Rents	Project Weighted Average Rent Total of (D)=Total of (A) =	CMHC or City Published Weighted Average Rent Total of (E)=total of ( ) =
Depth of Affordability	(Project Weighted Average Rent- Rent) X100=	+ CMHC (or City published) Weighted Average

#### D. Project Certification

I certify, to the best of my knowledge, that the information provided in Section B above is true and correct. I hereby authorize the City of Toronto to review the rent roll from appropriate source(s) if deemed necessary.

#### Name of Proponent:

by: Name: Title:	Date:				
I have authority to bind the corporation					
City of Toronto					
by:Name: Title:	Date:				
I have authority to bind the corporation					

# SCHEDULE "C" UNITS RECEIVING HOUSING BENEFITS

Housing Project Address: 175 Cummer Avenue

Total Number of Units with Housing Benefits: 59 Studio Units

Mandate: Alternative - Supportive Housing

The following services and appliances shall be provided by the **Housing Provider** and shall be included in the Benchmark Market Rent: Heat; Hydro; Water; Hot Water; Refrigerator; Stove.

The City shall not pay for any parking charges.

# SCHEDULE "D" SUPPORT SERVICES PLAN

The support services to be provided by the Proponent will include but not be limited to:

#### **HOUSING SUPPORTS**

#### **Housing Set-up**

Activities which cover costs associated with setting up a housing unit, including: maintenance (for example painting), moving, furniture, kitchen, basic groceries and supplies at move-in, etc. If another program offers first and last month's rent or damage deposits (e.g. Ontario Works), that funding should be exhausted first for these purposes.

#### **Housing Stabilization**

Housing Stabilization Supports include follow-up or post-placement supports for clients or households that are at risk of homelessness living in transitional or permanent housing units. Housing stabilization supports may be tied to the unit or may be portable and therefore move with the tenant.

#### **EVICTION PREVENTION SUPPORTS**

#### Prevention

Prevention includes activities aimed at preventing homelessness by supporting individuals and families at imminent risk of homelessness before a crisis occurs. This includes supporting individuals and families who are currently housed but at-risk of losing their housing, and preventing individuals who are being discharged from public systems (for example, health, corrections, and child welfare) from becoming homeless. Populations at imminent risk of homelessness are defined as individuals or families whose current housing situation will end in the near future (for example, within 2 months) and for whom no subsequent residence has been established. Eligible activities (through direct delivery or referral) include:

- Discharge planning services for individuals being released from public systems (for example health, corrections, and child welfare).
- · Help obtaining or retaining housing, including shared housing.
- Landlord liaison and intervention to prevent eviction and preserve tenancies.
- · Advice on budgeting, credit counseling and debt consolidation.
- · Legal advice, advocacy and legal representation in order to avert eviction.
- Emergency assistance to help avert eviction (for example food, clothing, transportation vouchers, cleaning/repair of damage to a rental unit).
- Moving costs.

#### **CLIENT SUPPORT SERVICES**

Client support services include individualized services to help improve integration and connectedness to support structures, such as the provision of basic needs and treatment services. They may also include services to support the economic, social and cultural integration of individuals and families.

#### **Economic Integration Services**

Eligible activities include:

- Income assistance: services directed towards individuals and families to help them
  access income benefits (for example Ontario Works or Ontario Disability Support
  Program social assistance, child benefits, disability benefits, veterans allowance, old
  age security, or employment insurance).
- Employment assistance: pre- and post-employment services (for example job search assistance, interview preparation) that bridge individuals and families to the labour market and assist them to maintain employment and build self-sufficiency.
- Education and Training assistance: services to support essential skills development
  (for example, reading, document use, numeracy, writing, oral communication, working
  with others, thinking, computer use and continuous learning), services to connect
  individuals and families to education and training programs and services to support
  the successful participation in these programs (for example bus passes, clothing or
  equipment, food and non-alcoholic beverages, internet access for the duration of the
  program).

#### Ineligible activities include:

- Employment activities normally delivered by other federal, provincial or territorial labour market programs
- Job wages for individuals participating in an education, training, or pre-employment program
- Salary for a full-time teacher to provide an alternative to provincial education
- Tuition
- · Workplace skills development
- · Apprenticeship grants

#### **Social and Community Integration Services**

Eligible activities include:

- Supports to improve social integration, for example, costs of participation or provision of cultural/art/recreational/sports activities.
- · Indigenous Elder consultation, gathering and preparation of traditional foods.
- Establishing and maintaining culturally relevant responses and supports to help Indigenous individuals and families (for example navigation of urban services including to help establish and maintain culturally relevant support networks within an urban environment; Indigenous language and culture classes).

#### Ineligible activities include:

Purchase of alcoholic beverages.

#### **Clinical and Treatment Services**

Clinical and treatment services are activities that seek to improve the physical and mental health and well-being of individuals and families who are homeless or at imminent risk of homelessness.

Eligible activities include:

 Brokering and navigating access to clinical, health and treatment services (includes mental health and addictions support) through case management, including through an Intensive Case Management team.

- Partnership development, liaison and integration to bring together services to support the needs of individuals or families or to establish case management teams where none exists
- Delivery of harm reduction activities that seek to reduce risk and connect individuals
  and families with key health and social services. These activities may include, for
  instance, storage, distribution and provision of materials and/or supplies (for example
  needles), prevention interventions (for example targeted programming to prevent
  substance abuse in homeless youth and/or youth at-risk of homelessness); managed
  alcohol programs, connecting individuals to harm reduction services.
- Professional fees for services provided in support of Indigenous individuals and families (for example services provided by Indigenous Elders or traditional healers).
   The value of professional fees, gifts or honoraria must be proportional to the service rendered and should not exceed the reasonable and customary amount for each service.
- Supports to access traditional or culturally sensitive healing services (for example healing circles, sweat lodges ceremonies, access to traditional medicines) that are not offered through provincial programming. Eligibility is not based on service location (for example may be local or require travel to a non-local Indigenous community).

#### Ineligible activities include:

- Providing general health and medical services (for example doctors, nurses and other medical professional salaries), mental health or addictions support services (for example, counselling, treatment, and hospitalization) that are already provided through provincial areas of responsibility.
- An ACT team provides access to services that are the responsibility of the Province
  and therefore cannot be funded with support service dollars (e.g. psychiatrist, doctor,
  nurse, substance abuse specialist). However, assisting with project coordination of an
  Assertive Community Treatment team, and linking individuals and families to existing
  Assertive Community Treatment teams is eligible.

#### **Basic Needs Services**

Funding for basic needs services support outcomes that contribute to housing stability a reduction in homelessness recidivism. For Indigenous individuals and families, funding could support culturally appropriate services and connection with community (for example local and/or home community, including First Nation band, Inuit band, Métis settlement, etc.). Eligible activities include:

- Essential services related to the provision of food and shelter, including shower and laundry facilities, food banks, soup kitchens, community kitchens and drop-in centres.
- Life skills development (for example budgeting, cooking).
- Longer-term food programs that are part of another eligible activity (for example, activities that assist with community reintegration)
- Culturally relevant supports for Indigenous people (for example, cultural ceremonies, traditional supports and activities with the goal of increasing cultural connections and an individual's sense of belonging in a community).
- · Groceries, personal hygiene and supplies.
- · Clothing, footwear and blankets.
- Storage for belongings (up to 3 months)
- Access to traditional foods and medicines.
- Personal identification.

- Access to technology (for example phones, community voice mail, safe apps, computers, etc.) in a community setting (for example in a resource or drop-in centre).
- Bus or public transit tickets related to integration activities (for example, job search/interviews, appointments/reconnecting to family).
- · Transportation to home community

#### Ineligible activities include:

• Delivery of basic needs services without any demonstrated outreach or intervention to improve housing stability or social/economic integration as part of the project activities.



# Declaration of Compliance with Anti-Harassment/Discrimination Legislation & City Policy

#### Background:

Organizations and individuals in Ontario have obligations not to engage in harassment, discrimination, and hate activity. These obligations are captured in the Ontario Human Rights Code, the Occupational Health and Safety Act, the Employment Standards Act, the Accessibility for Ontarians with Disabilities Act, the Criminal Code of Canada and the Charter of Rights and Freedoms.

The City's <u>Human Rights and Anti-Harassment/Discrimination Policy</u> and <u>Hate Activity Policy</u> incorporate these obligations not to engage in harassment, discrimination, and hate activity on all prohibited grounds set out in the Ontario Human Rights Code as well as the additional grounds of political affiliation and level of literacy as set out in section 2.3 of the <u>Human Rights</u> and Anti-Harassment/Discrimination Policy.

These policies also require the following Declaration of Compliance with Anti-Harassment/Discrimination Legislation to be signed in order for a contract, permit or other permission to be approved or issued by the City. The name of the individual or organization and the fact that the Declaration was signed may be included in a public report to City Council.

#### **Declaration:**

I/We uphold our obligations in accordance with the above provincial and federal legislation and legal obligations. In addition, I/we uphold our obligations under the City's Human Rights and Anti-Harassment/Discrimination Policy and Hate Activity Policy that prohibit harassment, discrimination, and hate activity.

The organization or individual acting on behalf of the organization affirms the necessary policies, programs, information, instruction, plans and/or other supports are in place and are consistent with our legally mandated obligations. Additionally, in order to align with City policy, I/we agree to prohibit harassment, discrimination, and hate activity on all prohibited grounds set out in the Ontario Human Rights Code as well as the additional grounds of political affiliation and level of literacy.

I/We have an internal process available to employees, service recipients, and facility users to prevent, address and remedy discrimination, racism, harassment, hate activity and inaccessibility complaints. I/we agree that, upon the request of the City, I/we shall provide evidence of the policies, programs, information, instruction, plans and other supports and an appropriate internal complaint resolution process required under this Declaration which is sufficient to allow the City to determine compliance with policy and legal obligations.

I/We acknowledge that failure to demonstrate compliance with this Declaration to the satisfaction of the operating Division, in consultation with the City Solicitor, may result in the termination of the contract and/or other consequences, such as fines, penalties, or restrictions as set out in the relevant operating Division's procedures and/or contract.



# Declaration of Compliance with Anti-Harassment/Discrimination Legislation & City Policy

#### **Declarant Information**

Contact Information						
☐ Organization/Business ☐ Individual (For Organization/Business representative provide business contact information)						
Organization Name (If applicable) Click here to enter text.						
Click liefe to effet text.	Click here to enter text.					
Organizational Representative or Individual (First and Last Name) Click here to enter text.						
Check this box if Fire	Check this box if First Name and Last Name do not apply to you because you have either a					
registered Birth Certificate or Change of Name Certificate bearing a Single Name. Provide your name						
below. Single Name						
Street Number	Street Name			Suite/Unit Number		
Click here to enter text.	Click here to enter text.			Click here to enter text.		
City/Town	Province			Postal Code		
Click here to enter text.	Click here to enter text.			Click here to enter text.		
Telephone Number Email						
Click here to enter tex	Click here to er	Click here to enter text.				
Signature of Organizational Representative or Individual:				Date (yyyy-mm-dd)		
<u>x</u>				Click here to enter text.		

Multilingual Translation Services: 311 and TTY 416-338-0889. For further information, consult this webpage: <u>Accessibility and Human Rights</u>.

